NO. 45925-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Douglas S. Radabaugh and Shirley Radabaugh, Appellants (Defendants)

 $\mathbf{v}_{\boldsymbol{\cdot}}$

Heritage Restoration, Inc., Respondent (Plaintiff)

APPELLANTS RADABAUGHS' OPENING BRIEF

Ben D. Cushman Cushman Law Offices, P.S. 924 Capitol Way South Olympia, WA 98501 360/534-9183

Attorney for Appellants

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents a single question – whether a judgment creditor with an ordinary breach of contract judgment can avoid a debtor's Chapter 11 bankruptcy discharge by obtaining an order of the Trial Court, two years after entry of judgment, reforming the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to include a supplementary equitable claim for payment. Such a process is error. It is untimely and extra-procedural. Even if not, the process involves the application of equity where equity should not apply due to the applicability of an adequate remedy at law. Finally, such a process, if allowed, would circumvent the entirety bankruptcy of and would apply to do so in almost all bankruptcy cases. Fortunately, bankruptcy law itself forecloses this process by discharging equitable claims for payment along with other legally recognized debts. The Court erred in allowing such circumvention of bankruptcy law. This Court should reverse the Trial Court and remand this matter with direction that the Trial Court direct that Heritage Restoration refund to the court registry the funds that were erroneously disbursed to it and with further direction that those funds should be properly disbursed to the Radabaughs as Radabaugh money protected by a claim of exemption in bankruptcy.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

- 1. The Trial Court Erred in Disbursing Money Held in the Registry of Court to Respondent Heritage Restoration based on a Judgment Heritage Restoration had Obtained Against the Appellants Radabaugh when the Radaughs had Filed for and Obtained a Bankruptcy Discharge of Debts, Using one of their Property Exemptions to Secure the Money in Court, in a Bankruptcy Proceeding in which Heritage Restoration had Filed a Creditor's Claim Based on Its Judgment.
- 2. The Trial Court Erred in Reforming the Judgment in Favor of Heritage Restoration to Include an Equitable Claim for Payment for the Purpose of Allowing Enforcement of a Judgment Otherwise Void By Operation of a Bankruptcy Discharge.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Is it proper for a Trial Court to modify a judgment, following discharge of the judgment in bankruptcy, more than two years after issuance of the judgment, to reframe a legal award of damages as an equitable award for the purpose of circumventing the bankruptcy discharge of the judgment debtors?
- 2. Is it proper for a Trial Court to modify a judgment awarding damages to include equitable relief when the money damage judgment is a

sufficient recovery as a matter of law and, therefore, the judgment creditor sought and obtained complete and sufficient legal relief without resort to equity?

- 3. Is it proper for a Trial Court to disregard a bankruptcy discharge to pay a judgment based on an equitable right to payment of money when the Bankruptcy Code at 11 U.S.C. §101(5)(8)(A)&(B) specifically provides that such equitable claims are discharged along with purely legal claims to payment of debt?
- 4. Is it proper for Trial Court to disburse money belonging to a judgment debtor in partial payment of a judgment that has been discharged in bankruptcy prior to the disbursement?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a construction contract to repair insured water damage relating to a roof leak at the Radabaugh residence. The leak was severe, causing water damage on the walls and ceilings in many rooms throughout the Radabaugh house. The Radabaughs filed an insurance claim, received an insurance payout to conduct repairs, and hired Heritage Restoration to perform the repair work. (CP 4-22; CP 23-25.)

The Radabaughs were unhappy with the quality of Heritage
Restoration's work, which fell short of the final result they understood
Heritage Restoration to have promised. (CP 23-25.) They withheld money

from Heritage Restoration based on this claim. Heritage Restoration sued for breach of contract and, in the alternative, some equitable remedies (such as quantum meruit) seeking an equitable basis for payment in the event there was a legal defect in its contract claim. (CP 4-22.)

During pendency of the case, the Radabaughs paid a portion of their insurance proceeds into the Registry of Court. The source of this money was a payment to the Radabaughs, by their insurance company, for the covered casualty loss caused by the roof leak. (CP 29-33; CP 68.)

The case proceeded to trial. The Trial Court determined that there was no legal defect in Heritage Restoration's Contract claim and ruled that the Radabaughs had breached the contract by failing to pay Heritage Restoration. Heritage Restoration received a money judgment against the Radabaughs based on Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law prepared by Heritage Restoration's Counsel and approved and issued by the Trial Court. This judgment, and these Findings and Conclusions, provided Heritage with a money judgment award of breach of contract damages, but did not provide any equitable relief. Further, this judgment did not address the money held in Court. Specifically, the judgment did not determine that the money held in Court belonged to Heritage Restoration, which would have resulted in a partial credit against the amount the Trial Court found to be presently due and owed. (CP 34-47; CP 48-50.)

Probably because it recognized that this legal award of damages was sufficient as a matter of law, Heritage Restoration did not appeal the judgment within thirty days of its issuance. Heritage Restoration also did not seek reconsideration or revision of the judgment to include equitable claims or to address the issue of how to disburse the money held in court.

Thereafter, unable to pay the judgment, the Radabaughs filed for bankruptcy protection. (CP 61; CP 67-75.) Heritage Restoration filed a claim in bankruptcy as a creditor of the Radabaughs. That claim was based entirely on the judgment it had received. Heritage Restoration did not file an adversarial proceeding or otherwise seek additional or further relief in the bankruptcy court. (CP 67-75.) The Radabaughs, however, used one of their few exemptions to protect the money held in court from creditor claims, including that of Heritage Restoration. The Radabaughs received a discharge of debts, including the debt represented by the judgment in favor of Heritage Restoration. (CP 67-75.)

After conclusion of the bankruptcy proceedings, with a discharge of the debts (including the Heritage Restoration judgment), Heritage Restoration filed a motion to have the Radabaugh insurance proceeds in the court registry disbursed to Heritage Restoration. (CP 51-60.) Knowing that its legal claim to payment had been discharged in bankruptcy, Heritage Restoration argued that it was equitably entitled to payment of the money in court and that this equitable right to payment, unlike the legal right to payment recognized in the

judgment, had not been discharged in the bankruptcy. Heritage Restoration requested that the Court issue an order making new findings of fact and conclusions of law to reform the judgment to include a claim for equitable right of payment and then to disburse the money held in the court registry on this basis. The Trial Court granted this motion, signed such an order, and disbursed the money to Heritage Restoration, over the Radabaughs' objection. (CP 116-119.) The Radabaughs appealed. (CP 120-125.)

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For the Trial Court's decision to be upheld, the Heritage Restoration request for payment (including their request for payment of moneys paid by the Radabaughs' insurance company into the registry of court) must not be a "claim." Heritage Restoration must assert this, and did assert this after the Radabaughs' bankruptcy discharge, even though Heritage Restoration made a claim in the Radabaugh bankruptcy based on its judgment against the Radabaughs.

To support this position, Heritage Restoration recast its request as an equitable lien on money held by the Court. Heritage then argued that because it was making an equitable demand, it was not making a claim for or seeking recovery of a discharged debt in violation of the letter and purpose of the

Bankruptcy Code. The Trial Court accepted this argument. That was error for three reasons.

First, after the Court has issued its judgment and has adjudicated the dispute between the parties as a pure legal dispute giving rise to a pure legal judgment, which judgment Heritage Restoration did not appeal, it is too late for Heritage Restoration to attempt to recast their theory and request as an equitable petition rather than a legal claim. Second, Heritage Restoration's claim is not properly equitable at all, as Heritage Restoration's Complaint only sought monetary recovery of an alleged debt on various legal theories (including the classic legal theory of breach of contract, on which it ultimately prevailed) and as the legal recovery allowed by those theories is sufficient as a matter of law. Finally, even if Heritage Restoration's claim were equitable (or could be retroactively recast as equitable), it would nonetheless be an equitable right to payment of money and therefore a claim that is and was dischargeable in the Radabaugh bankruptcy.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Revision of the Judgment is Untimely

The Judgment and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law issued by the Trial Court in October, 2011 did not include any equitable remedies in favor of Heritage Restoration and did not assign or otherwise adjudicate the ownership of the funds held in the court registry in favor of Heritage Restoration. Faced with those omissions, Heritage Restoration has several proper remedies. First, within ten days of their issuance, Heritage Restoration could have filed a Motion for Reconsideration under CR 59(h) and Thurston County LCR 59, seeking supplementation and revision of the Judgment and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Second, within thirty days of the issuance of judgment, Heritage Restoration could have appealed the Judgment and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Finally, Heritage Restoration could have sought relief from the Judgment under CR 60 within one year of judgment or may have petitioned the Court to reopen the record, allowing for new testimony and new Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, under CR 59(g).

However, Heritage Restoration did none of these things. Rather, more than two years after issuance of the judgment, Heritage Restoration sought and received an order allowing disbursement of the moneys held in the registry of court along with the addition of new Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to support the post-trial equitable theory of the case Heritage Restoration's counsel presented as a way to avoid the effects of the Radabaughs bankruptcy. There was no proper process provided by any available rule, or followed by Heritage Restoration, allowing supplementation or modification of the Judgment and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on these terms.

Nonetheless, the Court granted the motion and issued the order. This was error.

Further, once a discharge is obtained under Chapter 7, the discharge "voids any judgment" against the Debtor. 11 U.S.C. §524(a)(1). Therefore, even if Heritage Restoration could return to Court more than a year after receiving its judgment and ask the Court to make new findings and rulings to convert the legal remedies provided in the judgment to equitable ones, it could not do so here. The Radabaugh's discharged this debt, and this judgment, in bankruptcy. After the discharge, there was no judgment to revise, even if such untimely revision were proper.

B. Heritage Restoration's Claim is Legal Not Equitable.

Following the issuance of the judgment against them, the Radabaughs sought bankruptcy protection, as is their right under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C.). Because the judgment was a money judgment based on purely legal grounds (breach of contract), the judgment was dischargeable in bankruptcy. Heritage Restoration had the right to file a bankruptcy claim, and it did so, but it did not have the right to enforce the judgment outside of or despite the Radabaugh bankruptcy.

The Heritage judgment was not paid in full in the bankruptcy.

Therefore, the unpaid portion of the Radabaughs' debt to Heritage Restoration was discharged. This would have and should have resulted in the voiding the

judgment Heritage Restoration had received against the Radabaughs without further payment.

However, as a general rule, equitable obligations, unlike legal obligations, are not discharged in bankruptcy. (There is a critical and applicable exception to that rule applying to equitable rights of payment, which are dischargeable. However, that issue is addressed below.) Therefore, in an effort to resuscitate its judgment and to be paid an additional amount from moneys the Radabaughs had received from their insurance company and tendered into the registry of court, Heritage Restoration filed a motion asking the Trial Court to reform the judgment to include a claim for "equitable assignment of funds" and then disburse the Radabaugh funds held by the Court as an equitable remedy. This was an improper use of equitable powers to provide the equitable equivalent of a legal remedy when the legal remedy is sufficient as a matter of law.

An equable remedy will not be fashioned if an adequate remedy at law exists. Sorenson v. Pyeatt, 158 Wn.2d 523 at 531, 146 P.3d 1172 (2006). "The true nature of a cause of action stated in a complaint must be determined by its allegations and the evidence offered in support of its prayer for relief, and not by the pleader's conclusions as to its nature nor the label he places upon it."

Hein v. Chrysler Corp., 45 Wn.2d 586 at 595, 277 P.2d 708 (1954).

This was an ordinary breach of contract case. It was a case about payment of money. It was not a case about specific performance or some other

action or inaction of a party, apart from payment of money, that the Court was asked to order or prohibit. Heritage Restoration contended that it was entitled to be paid for work it performed for the Radabaughs. The Radabaughs contended that Heritage Restoration's work was defective and refused to pay for the work in full. The Trial Court heard the case, disagreed with the Radabaughs' contention that the work was defective, and awarded Heritage Restoration breach of contract damages.

As a matter of law, payment of the damages awarded by the Court would have been (uncontroversially) a sufficient remedy. As such damages are a legal remedy, it follows that Heritage Restoration had an adequate remedy at law. More, Heritage Restoration actually received this adequate remedy at law in the form of its original, unreformed judgment against the Radabaughs.

Heritage Restoration's position, which was essentially adopted by the Trial Court, is that because the Radabaugh Bankruptcy meant that Heritage Restoration did not receive actual payment, the judgment at law Heritage Restoration received against the Radabaughs did not, in retrospect, provide Heritage Restoration with an adequate remedy and, therefore, it should be reformed to include a new equitable remedy allowing Heritage Restoration to receive a disbursement of Radabaugh money held by the Court. This position is wrong. First, as argued below, equitable rights to payment, unlike equitable rights to action (or to prohibition of action) are dischargeable in bankruptcy. Second, if accepted, this theory would eviscerate the whole of bankruptcy law.

Bankruptcy operates to discharge, as if paid, unpaid debts that are otherwise due and owing. If a debtor has a means to avoid payment of the debt (or to pay the debt) short of bankruptcy, such a debtor generally resorts to that means rather than to bankruptcy. Thus, the debts that are discharged in bankruptcy are ordinarily righteous and owing. Heritage Restoration's argument, that it should be paid this obligation, despite the Radabaugh bankruptcy, because the Trial Court has ruled that the amount is lawfully owed is not unique, but would rather apply to almost every debt ever discharged by a bankruptcy court. The mere fact of nonpayment as a result of a bankruptcy discharge does not make an otherwise adequate legal remedy inadequate for purposes of equity. Such a ruling would circumvent the entirety of bankruptcy law.

C. Heritage Restoration's Claim Was Discharged in Bankruptcy

Once a discharge is obtained under Chapter 7, the discharge "voids any judgment" against the Debtor. 11 U.S.C. §524(a)(1). The discharge also acts as an injunction to recover against any debt owed by the debtor. 11 U.S.C. §524(a)(2). A "debt" is defined as any liability on a "claim". 11 U.S.C. §101(12). A "claim" is defined in 11 U.S.C. §101(5)(8) as including all legal remedies and some equitable remedies:

(A) right to payment, whether or not such right is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured, or unsecured; or

(B) right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if such breach gives rise to a right to payment, whether or not such right to an equitable remedy is reduced to judgment, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured, or unsecured."

(emphasis added)

That is, any claim for payment of money is a claim and therefore is a dischargeable debt, whether or not it has been reduced to final judgment and whether or not it presents as a legal right to damages or other payment or as an equitable right to money. If the ultimate recovery is monetary, the claim is dischargeable in bankruptcy.

Here, whether conceived legally or equitably, Heritage Restoration's claim is a claim for payment of money owed by the Radabaughs. They have no other right to the proceeds of the Radabaughs' insurance pay-outs. Thus, whether conceived legally or equitably, Heritage Restoration's claim was discharged by the Radabaugh bankruptcy prior to disbursement of the Radabaugh insurance proceeds held by the Court.

D. The Disbursement of Held Funds Was Improper

The money in the court registry were the proceeds of a casualty loss payment to the Radabaughs by the insurance company arising from an insured loss (storm water damage). Further, that money had never been garnished, seized, ordered paid, or ordered disbursed to any other person (including Heritage) by any Court. Therefore, the money remained Radabaugh money.

See Ketner Bros., Inc. v. Nichols, 52 Wn.2d 353, 357, 324 P.2d 1093 (1958) (insurance proceeds belong to the insured).

VI. CONCLUSION

The Trial Court erred in issuing an order disbursing to Heritage

Restoration exempt money of the Radabaughs, which had been secured to the

Radabaughs through the Radabaughs' bankruptcy process by application of an
exemption. This money had been held in Court, but remained the Radabaughs'
money, as it was not garnished, seized, or previously adjudicated by court

order (including the judgment in this case) prior to the Radabaughs obtaining a
bankruptcy discharge of debts. In disbursing the money to Heritage

Restoration, despite the Radabaughs' claim to it and despite the discharge of
the Radabaughs' obligation to Heritage Restoration (which legally voided the
judgment), the Court committed several reversible errors.

First, the Court accepted an untimely process not allowed by any court rule or statute when it reformed the Heritage Restoration judgment two years after its issuance. Further, that reformation occurred after the judgment was void by operation of bankruptcy, and therefore the Court lacked subject matter (the judgment) on which to act. The Trial Court's order purports to supplement a judgment that no longer exists and therefore operates on the void. A void document cannot be amended or supplemented, and any attempt to do

so is as fatally subject to the voidness of the underlying judgment as any other attempt to enforce or implement the judgment would be.

Second, although the Court's order purports to supplement its original judgment by adding an equitable claim, Heritage Restoration's claim is not properly equitable at all. Heritage Restoration claim is for a monetary recovery of an alleged debt. It received a judgment on those grounds. As a matter of law, a money judgment is an adequate legal remedy on a suit for debt. The possibility of avoiding the debt, and the judgment, through proper bankruptcy process does not change this. Bankruptcy just works that way, and in refusing to allow the bankruptcy process to work, the Trial Court has erroneously disregarded Federal Bankruptcy law.

Finally, even if Heritage Restoration's claim were equitable, it was nonetheless dischargeable and discharged. 11 U.S.C. §101(5)(8) defines claims that can be discharged in bankruptcy as including both legal claims (money judgment claims) and equitable claims for payment. Heritage Restoration gains no defense from the Radabaugh bankruptcy discharge by the Trial Court's recasting its money judgment as an equitable right to payment.

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