NO. 45925-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Thurston County Superior Court No. 10-2-00972-5)

Douglas S. Radabaugh and Shirley Radabaugh, Appellants (Defendants)

v.

> Heritage Restoration, Inc., Respondent (Plaintiff)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, HERITAGE RESTORATION, INC.

Trevor A. Zandell, WSBA # 37210 Of Attorneys for Respondent Swanson Law Firm, PLLC 908 – 5th Avenue SE Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 236-8755

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

II. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Heritage Moves to Strike Factual Averments in the</u> <u>Radabaughs' Brief That Are Not Supported by Citation to the</u> <u>Record.</u>

The Radabaughs' opening brief contained the following factual

averments in their Statement of the Case that are not contained in the record

and without citation to the record:

Heritage Restoration received a money judgment against the Radabaughs based on Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law prepared by Heritage Restoration's Counsel and approved and issued by the Trial Court.

(Appellants Opening Br. at 4.)

Heritage Restoration filed a claim in bankruptcy as a creditor of the Radabaughs. That claim was based entirely on the judgment it had received.

(Appellants Opening Br. at 5.)

The Heritage judgment was not paid in full in the bankruptcy.

(Appellants Opening Br. at 9.) One of the above claims is untrue, one is intentionally misleading, and the other requires further explanation and context. However, demonstrating that they are untrue or misleading would require citation to other materials that are also not in the record. Heritage is therefore unable to answer them. The inclusion of the above factual averments without citation to the record is a violation of RAP 10.3(a)(5). As such, Heritage moves to strike those averments.

B. <u>Because the Radabaughs Have Not Challenged Any of the Trial</u> Courts Findings of Fact, They Are Verities on Appeal.

The Radabaughs did not assign error to any of the Trial Court's findings of fact in their opening brief. If the Radabaughs intended to challenge any of the Trial Court's findings of fact, they were required to list a separate assignment of error for each finding, with reference to the finding by number. RAP 10.3(g). Because the Radabaughs have not raised any challenges, the Trial Court's findings of fact are verities on appeal. <u>Robel v. Roundup Corp.</u>, 148 Wn.2d 35, 42, 59 P.3d 611, 615 (2002); <u>Harris v. Urell</u>, 133 Wn. App. 130, 137, 135 P.3d 530, 533 (2006).

C. <u>The Trial Court's Judgment in Favor of Heritage Was Based</u> On Quantum Meruit Not Breach of Contract.

The Radabaughs assert multiple times throughout their opening brief that the trial court awarded Heritage a money judgment based upon Heritage's breach of contract claim and not based on an equitable remedy. (See, e.g., Appellants Opening Br. at 4, 7, 11.) The Radabaughs argued precisely the opposite to the Trial Court in opposition to Heritage's motion for release of the funds:

> The absence of a holding that the moneys were equitably assigned to Heritage is despite the fact that the Court's judgment is based on the Court's equitable powers, as the

Court, holding that Heritage had not proved its contract price (the actual cost of the work) and therefore could not award ordinary contract damages, based its judgment award on the equitable theory of *quantum meruit*. (See holdings 4 and 13.)

(CP 64.)

The Trial Court's judgment was indeed based on quantum meruit. In its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Trial Court expressly ruled against Heritage on its breach of contract and mechanic's lien claims. (CP 45-47.) However, the Trial Court awarded Heritage damages under its quantum meruit claim. (CP 46-47.) The Judgment that was entered subsequent to the Trial Court's ruling was expressly based on quantum meruit and not on breach of contract. (CP 48-50.)

D. <u>The Court Should Decline to Consider Several of the</u> <u>Radabaughs' Claims of Error as They Were Not Raised in the</u> <u>Trial Court.</u>

The Radabaughs argue in their opening brief that the Trial Court, by its February 21, 2014, Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Release of Funds in Court Registry, amended or supplemented the Trial Court's earlier Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment. (Appellants' Opening Br. at 8-9.) The Radabaughs argue that was error, in part, because it was not done pursuant to a motion for reconsideration under CR 59(h), a motion to reopen the record under CR 59(g), or a motion for relief from judgment under CR 60. <u>Id.</u> However, the Radabaughs did not raise any of those procedural objections to the Trial Court, and as such, this Court should refuse to consider those claims of error.

Generally, Washington appellate court do not consider arguments made for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); <u>Clapp v. Olympic View Pub.</u> <u>Co., L.L.C.</u>, 137 Wn. App. 470, 476, 154 P.3d 230, 234 (2007); <u>River House</u> <u>Dev. Inc. v. Integrus Architecture, P.S.</u>, 167 Wn. App. 221, 230, 272 P.3d 289, 294 (2012). The policy behind this rule is to afford the trial court with an opportunity to correct errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals and retrials. <u>Wilson & Son Ranch, LLC v. Hintz</u>, 162 Wn. App. 297, 303, 253 P.3d 470, 473 (2011). The exceptions to the general rule are: jurisdictional issues, failure to establish facts on which relief can be granted, and manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a).

Here, Heritage initially filed and served its motion for release of funds on November 9, 2011. (CP 51-60.) That motion was not considered by the Court immediately due to the automatic stay issued in the Radabaughs' bankruptcy case. (CP 61). Heritage re-noted the motion after the bankruptcy stay was lifted and the Radabaughs substantively responded for the first time. (CP 62-75). The Court dismissed the motion without prejudice at the first hearing (RP 3/30/12 at 14-15.) When Heritage re-noted the motion for a third time, the Radabaughs filed a supplemental response. (CP 100-113.) However, at no time in any of their written responses or in

10

their counsel's arguments to the Trial Court did the Radabaughs raise the procedural objections listed above in this subsection. (CP 62-75, 110-113; RP 3/30/12 6-16; RP 2/21/14 9-19). In fact, the Radabaughs' counsel argued to the Trial Court that Heritage's motion was not a motion to amend the findings and conclusions:

This wasn't a motion to amend the findings of fact and conclusions of law.

(RP 2/21/14 at 16). Both because the Radabaughs did not object in the Trial Court to the alleged amendments to findings and conclusions and because the Radabaughs acknowledged to the Trial Court that Heritage's motion was not one to amend findings and conclusions, this Court should decline to consider those claims of error.

E. <u>The Trial Court Had Exclusive Authority to Determine the Party</u> <u>Entitled to Funds on Deposit in the Registry of Court and to Order</u> <u>their Disbursement.</u>

The standard of review of a trial court's decision to disburse funds held in the trial court's registry is abuse of discretion. <u>Pacific Northwest Life Ins.</u> <u>Co. v. Turnbull</u>, 51 Wn. App. 692, 699, 754 P.2d 1262, 1267 (1998). The trial court has exclusive authority and control over funds that are on deposit in the registry of court:

RULE 67. DEPOSIT IN COURT

In an action in which any part of the relief sought is a judgment for a sum of money or the disposition of a sum of money or the disposition of any other thing capable of delivery, a party, upon notice to every other party, and by leave of court, may deposit with the court all or any part of such sum or thing, whether or not that party claims all or any part of the sum or thing. The party making the deposit shall serve the order permitting deposit on the clerk of the court. Money paid into court under this rule shall be deposited and withdrawn in accordance with the provisions of RCW 4.44.480 through 4.44.500 or any like statute or rule.

CR 67. RCW 4.44.480 echoes the provisions of CR 67 and it also makes it

clear that once funds are deposited into the court registry, the court has wide

discretion over how the funds should be disbursed:

4.44.480. Deposits in court--Order

When it is admitted by the pleading or examination of a party, that the party possesses or has control of any money, or other thing capable of delivery, which being the subject of the litigation, is held by him or her as trustee for another party, or which belongs or is due to another party, the court may order the same to be deposited in court, or delivered to such party, with or without security, <u>subject to the further direction of the court</u>.

RCW 4.44.480 (2003) (emphasis added).

After funds have been deposited into the court registry, the court has

wide discretion to disburse them pursuant to applicable principles of law

and equity, even after judgment has been rendered and the case dismissed:

A court which has custody of funds has the authority and the duty to distribute the funds to the party or parties that show themselves entitled thereto, <u>and this duty continues even</u> <u>after the entry of judgment or dismissal of the action</u> in which the court gained custody of the funds. Such a court has the power and the responsibility of protecting the fund and of disposing of it in accordance with the applicable principles of law and equity for the protection of the litigants and the public whose interests are affected by the final disposition thereof. The court is said to be free, in the discharge of that duty and responsibility, to use broad discretion in the exercise of its powers so as to avoid an unlawful or unjust result.

Thus the court has wide discretion in the disposition of deposited funds.

<u>Wilson v. Henkle</u>, 45 Wn.App. 162, 169, 724 P.2d 1069 (1986) (citations omitted) (emphasis added); See also, <u>Turnbull</u>, 51 Wn.App. at 699. Once money is deposited into the registry of court, it is held *in custodia legis* pending further order of the court and, because their ownership is in dispute, they may not be the object of a garnishment, levy or any other form of execution. <u>Maybee v. Machart</u>, 110 Wn.2d 902, 904-05, 757 P.2d 967 (1988).

Here, before the funds were deposited, they were insurance proceeds issued for a portion of the Radabaughs' insurance claim under which Heritage provided construction materials and services. They were deposited by Grange pursuant to a stipulated motion and order because, at the time, there was a dispute as to how much offset from Heritage's bill, if any, the Radabaughs were entitled. The Stipulated Motion provided that Heritage and Radabaugh disputed to whom the funds belonged. (CP 29-33.) By signing the Stipulated Motion, the Radabaughs' counsel recognized Heritage's claim to ownership of the funds. The stipulation is binding on the Radabaughs. <u>State v. A.N.W. Seed Corp.</u>, 54 Wn. App. 729, 732, 776 P.2d 143, 144 (1989). Once the parties recognized each other's claims to the funds and decided to deposit the funds into the court registry, the Trial Court gained exclusive jurisdiction to determine the owner of the funds and to disburse them.

F. <u>The Funds Were Heritage's Property Because the Radabaughs</u> Legally Assigned Them to Heritage.

Heritage was the owner of the funds that were on deposit in the registry of the Trial Court because the Radabaughs legally assigned them to Heritage under the parties' Contract. Funds are lawfully assigned when the assignor manifests an intention to assign them to a particular assignee. See, <u>Washington State Dept. of Revenue v. Security Pacific Bank of Washington</u> <u>N.A.</u>, 109 Wn. App. 795, 38 P.3d 354 (2002); <u>Shower v. Fischer</u>, 47 Wn. App. 720, 737 P.2d 291 (1987). No particular words of art are required to make a legal assignment so long as the intention to assign is clear:

No particular words of art are required to create a valid and binding assignment. Any language showing the owner's intent to transfer and invest property in the assignee is sufficient.

<u>Carlile v. Harbour Homes, Inc.</u>, 147 Wn. App. 193, 208, 194 P.3d 280, 287 (2008) (citations omitted).

Here, the Contract required the Radabaughs to "immediately forward all draws issued as partial or full payment regarding this claim." By the terms of the Contract, the Radabaughs also directed their insurer to pay Heritage directly or to include Heritage on all payouts under the insurance claim. That provision was evidently honored by Grange when it initially issued the Insurance Check jointly to the Radabaughs and Heritage.

Under the Contract, the Radabaughs clearly evidenced an intention to assign the insurance proceeds to Heritage, at the prices negotiated between Heritage and their insurer, subject to certain warranties of quality. The trial below was necessary to determine how much of an offset to the agreed prices, if any, the Radabaughs were entitled due to alleged incomplete work or work that did not conform to the warranties of quality. Once those issues were decided by the Trial Court, the amount of the assignment was known. Since the Trial Court found that Heritage was entitled to more money than the amount in the court registry, it reasonably exercised its discretion in concluding that all the funds had been assigned to Heritage.

G. If the Funds Were Not Legally Assigned, They Were Equitably Assigned to Heritage.

Even if there was not a legal assignment of the funds, the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the Radabaughs equitably

15

assigned the funds in the court registry to Heritage. Whether an equitable assignment has occurred in the absence of a legal assignment depends on whether the circumstances evidence an intention to assign:

To establish an equitable assignment it is sufficient if the utilized, coupled with the language surrounding circumstances, plainly reveals an intent on the part of the assignor to make an actual or constructive transfer to the assignee of a present interest in the debt, fund, or subject matter of the assignment, even though the circumstances do not permit the assignee's immediate exercise of the interest, and, in pursuit of such intent, the assignor unequivocally relinguishes his control or power of revocation over the debt, fund, or subject matter of the assignment to the use or benefit of the assignee. As pointed out in the latter authority, a reliable test of an equtable [sic] assignment is whether the debtor would be justified in paying or delivering the subject matter to the designated assignee.

Robert Wise Plumbing & Heating, Inc. v. Alpine Dev. Co., 72 Wn.2d 172, 178, 432 P.2d 547, 551 (1967) (citing, Sundstrom v. Sundstrom, 15 Wn.2d 103, 129 P.2d 783 (1942); See also, Mercantile Ins. Co. of America v. Jackson, 40 Wn.2d 233, 242 P.2d 503 (1952).

Here, the Radabaughs have equitably assigned the funds to Heritage for all the same reasons argued above in favor of a finding of a legal assignment. Even if the Contract is unenforceable due to Heritage's failure to deliver an invoice for the "actual cost for said work," the Radabaughs still signed and agreed to the other provisions in the Contract quoted in the Statement of the Case above evidencing the intention to assign the funds. The Radabaughs' counsel argued to the Trial Court that the Radabaughs were entitled to the funds at the time of the construction project and that they opted to use the funds to pay for the repairs:

[The Radabaughs] chose to use the funds to -- at least they initially chose to use the funds to fund the construction project to repair the work, but they were entitled to those funds at the time.

(RP 3/30/12 at 10.) Additionally, under the test set forth in <u>Robert Wise</u> <u>Plumbing & Heating, Inc.</u> above, the Radabaughs certainly would be justified in paying the subject funds to Heritage. The funds are insurance proceeds intended to pay for materials and construction services performed by Heritage at the Radabaughs' home. Once the funds were deposited, the only dispute remaining was whether the value of materials and services performed by Heritage exceeded the amount of the funds held. The Trial Court heard six days of testimony on those issues, and concluded the net value of materials and services performed by Heritage was \$20,600.00, which amount exceeded the funds in the court registry. At that point, the Trial Court reasonably exercised its discretion in finding that the whole of the funds had been assigned to Heritage.

H. <u>The Radabaughs' Discharge in Bankruptcy Did Not Affect</u> <u>Ownership of the Funds.</u>

The Radabaughs argue that the Judgment issued against them was discharged in their bankruptcy action, and therefore, the funds held in the court registry should not have been released to Heritage. However, Heritage's motion was for release of the funds as the owner of the funds, and not an attempt to execute against the funds owned by the Radabaughs. A discharge in bankruptcy does not extinguish a debt, but merely releases the debtor from personal liability for the debt.

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